© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved.

Prophylaxis against Herpesvirus Infections in Transplant Recipients

Per Ljungman

Department of Haematology, Huddinge University Hospital, Karolinska Institutet, Huddinge, Sweden

Contents

Abstract
1. Aciclovir and Valaciclovir
1.1 Herpes Simplex
1.2 Varicella-Zoster
1.3 Cytomegalovirus (CMV)
1.3.1 Solid Organ Transplant
1.3.2 Valaciclovir as CMV Prophylaxis
1.4 Epstein-Barr
2. Penciclovir and Famciclovir
3. Ganciclovir
3.1 Stem Cell Transplant Recipients
3.2 Solid Organ Transplant Recipients
4. Foscarnet
4.1 Prevention of Infection
4.2 Prevention of Disease
5. Cidofovir
6. Conclusions

Abstract

Herpesvirus infections are important after stem cell and organ transplant. During the last decades several antiviral agents have been introduced with efficacy against herpesviruses. These agents are the nucleoside analogues aciclovir, valaciclovir, famciclovir, and ganciclovir; the nucleotide analogue cidofovir; and the pyrophosphate analogue foscarnet. Several studies have been performed with antiviral agents with the aim to reduce morbidity and mortality associated with herpesvirus infections in transplant recipients. Aciclovir and valaciclovir have been examined in randomised, controlled trials in both solid organ and stem cell transplant patients, and were shown to be very effective for the prevention of herpes simplex virus (HSV) and varicella-zoster virus infections. In addition, these drugs were shown to reduce cytomegalovirus (CMV) infection and improve survival in allogenic stem cell transplant patients and to reduce CMV infection, CMV disease (aciclovir and valaciclovir), and acute rejection (valaciclovir) in renal transplant patients. Ganciclovir is very effective for the prevention of CMV infection and disease in both stem cell and solid organ transplant recipients. It can also be used in preemptive strategies in which the aim is to prevent CMV disease in patients who have ongoing CMV infection documented by antigenae-

mia or detection of CMV DNA. The latter strategy has the advantage of reducing the exposure to the drug and thereby the risk for toxicity. Foscarnet has also been shown to be effective as preemptive therapy for CMV in allogenic stem cell transplant patients and as therapy for aciclovir-resistant HSV infections. Finally cidofovir is an interesting agent with broad spectrum antiherpesvirus efficacy. However, because of the drug's toxicity profile, further studies are needed.

Herpesvirus infections are important complications after solid organ and stem cell transplantation. Herpes simplex virus (HSV), varicella-zoster virus (VZV), cytomegalovirus (CMV), and Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) have all been associated with morbidity and mortality in transplant recipients. The roles as pathogens of the recently discovered members of the human herpesvirus family types 6, 7 and 8 (Kaposi's sarcoma herpesvirus) are being investigated. The first preventive measure that proved effective against CMV in transplant recipients was immunoglobulin (not reviewed in this paper). However, during the last 2 decades major advances have been achieved regarding the prevention of herpesvirus infections and disease by antiviral drugs and these are reviewed in this paper.

Currently available drugs with anti-herpesvirus efficacy are aciclovir and the prodrug valaciclovir, penciclovir with the prodrug famciclovir, ganciclovir, cidofovir, and foscarnet. All available drugs, except for foscarnet, require phosphorylation by viral or cellular enzymes to become activated. Of these agents, aciclovir, valaciclovir, ganciclovir and foscarnet have been used in controlled trials for the prevention of herpesvirus disease in transplant recipients. Famciclovir has been used extensively in non-immunocompromised hosts and cidofovir has been used as therapy of CMV retinitis in patients with HIV infection. Since a very large number of studies have been performed with aciclovir and ganciclovir, this review only includes randomised, controlled studies with these agents.

1. Aciclovir and Valaciclovir

The first antiviral drug that was used in large, prospective, randomised trials in transplant patients was aciclovir. Valaciclovir is the valin-ester of aciclovir and is converted to aciclovir in the gut

mucosa. Since the active substance is the same, the 2 drugs are covered together in this review. Aciclovir is first phosphorylated to monophosphate by a viral enzyme (thymidine kinase in HSV and VZV and the gene product of UL97 in CMV). The second and third phosphorylations are performed by cellular kinases. The aciclovir triphosphate is then incorporated in viral DNA and acts as an obligate chain terminator.

1.1 Herpes Simplex

HSV disease is common after solid organ and stem cell transplantation. Before the introduction of aciclovir, HSV disease occurred in 70 to 80% of seropositive blood and marrow transplantation recipients. HSV disease is also important in lung and heart/lung transplant patients, whereas it is of less importance in other solid organ transplant recipients.

Several randomised, controlled trials of aciclovir prophylaxis in stem cell transplant (SCT) recipients have been published. The main points that came out of these trials were:

- Aciclovir 5 mg/kg (250 mg/m²) given intravenously every 8 to 12 hours during the early neutropenic period after allogenic SCT almost entirely eliminated HSV disease.^[1-3]
- When aciclovir was given orally instead of intravenously during the early neutropenic phase, breakthroughs of HSV disease were seen, usually caused by poor compliance with oral medication. [4-6]
- HSV disease was common when prophylaxis was discontinued early after transplantation, [1,2,6,7] whereas prolonged therapy was highly effective in reducing clinically important HSV disease. [3,8]
 The results of these trials were translated into a

treatment strategy that has remained unchanged for more than a decade in most allogenic SCT centres.

In contrast to the situation in allogenic SCT recipients, only few trials have been performed in solid organ transplant recipients. Two randomised, controlled trials showed high efficacy of aciclovir for the prevention of HSV disease in renal transplant patients.^[9,10] Two studies comparing aciclovirtreated groups with untreated historical control groups have been published. Carrier et al.[11] performed a study in heart transplant recipients and Paya et al.[12] in liver transplant patients. Both studies showed less HSV disease in patients receiving aciclovir. In addition, studies with high dose aciclovir with the aim of preventing CMV have been performed in organ transplant patients. No controlled trial of valaciclovir as prophylaxis against HSV has been published in transplant recipients. However, the study by Lowance et al.[13] (reviewed in section 1.3.2) showed that high dose valaciclovir (for CMV prevention) effectively prevented HSV reactivation in renal transplant recipients.

Treatment of HSV disease in immunocompromised patients can select for resistant strains. Although aciclovir has now been in extensive use for more than 15 years, there has only been a moderate increase in the detection rate of aciclovir-resistant strains. [14-16] It has been suggested that prophylaxis is less likely to select for resistant strains than repeated short treatment courses. [17] Foscarnet is the drug of choice for aciclovir-resistant strains. [18] However, there is no indication for HSV-prophylaxis with foscarnet in transplant recipients.

1.2 Varicella-Zoster

Primary VZV infection (varicella) is a very severe complication to both SCT and organ transplant patients. Because of the epidemiological pattern of infection, the risk is highest in children. The recommended prophylactic options are varicella vaccine and varicella zoster immunoglobulin. There are no published data regarding antiviral chemoprophylaxis after exposure to VZV.

Reactivated VZV infections (herpes zoster; shingles) are common after both autologous and

allogenic SCT, and can occur in solid organ transplant recipients. In contrast to HSV, which reactivates rapidly with disease occurring during the first few weeks after transplantation, the peak risk of herpes zoster is between 3 and 6 months after transplantation. Thus, the duration of antiviral prophylaxis must be long to prevent reactivated VZV disease. Two randomised, controlled studies have been performed comparing 6 months of prophylactic aciclovir with placebo. [3,19] Both studies showed that aciclovir was effective in reducing the risk for herpes zoster during the 6 months of therapy, but 12 months after transplantation there was no longer any difference. Thus, there is no obvious advantage of aciclovir as prophylaxis against reactivated VZV disease in allogenic SCT recipients although it could be argued that it might be beneficial to postpone the reactivation to a time when the patients are less immunosuppressed and therefore less likely to develop severe complications. However, this assumption has not been proven.

Valaciclovir has not been studied for VZV prophylaxis, but there were no cases of VZV disease in the valaciclovir arm in the study by Lowance et al.,^[13] when valaciclovir was given as CMV prophylaxis.

1.3 Cytomegalovirus (CMV)

Aciclovir has only limited activity against CMV when tested in vitro and it was debated for a long period whether it could be phosphorylated into active triphosphate in CMV-infected cells. However, it has now been shown that a CMV enzyme UL97 is capable of the first critical phosphorylation step to monophosphate. [20,21] The first publication indicating an activity of aciclovir against CMV in allogenic SCT patients was by Gluckman et al.^[5] In this study, a low dose of aciclovir 200mg 4 times daily was shown to reduce the risk for CMV disease. This observation has never been confirmed. Because of the poor in vitro activity of aciclovir, other studies investigated the efficacy of higher dosages. Meyers et al.[22] compared the risk for CMV disease in 2 patient cohorts stratified by HSV serologic status. Patients who were HSV seropos-

190	Liungman

Reference	Design	Aciclovir dosage (mg/day)	Patient population	Number of patients	Results
Balfour et al. ^[25]	Randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled	800-3200	Renal transplant patients	104	ACV reduced CMV disease. Best effect in D+/R-
Rostaing et al. ^[26]	Randomised ACV vs ACV + CMV Ig	3200	Renal transplant (D+/R-) patients	28	No difference in viraemia or CMV disease
Kletzmayr et al. ^[27]	Randomised open study	800-3200 for 12 weeks	Renal transplant (D+/R-) patients	32	No difference in CMV disease
Gavalda et al.[28]	Randomised, open study	2000 for 16 weeks	Liver transplant (R+) patients	73	ACV reduced CMV disease

Table I. Randomised trials of the use of aciclovir (ACV) as prophylaxis for cytomegalovirus (CMV)

itive were given aciclovir 500 mg/m² 3 times daily from 5 days before to 30 days after allogenic SCT, while patients who were HSV seronegative received no therapy. The results of this study were that aciclovir reduced the risks for CMV infection, CMV disease, and improved survival compared with no therapy. However, the study by Meyers et al.^[22] was not a randomised, controlled study and it could be argued that some selection bias might have influenced the results. Therefore, a large randomised, controlled study was performed by Prentice et al.^[23,24] This study had 3 arms:

D+ = donor positive; **Ig** = immunoglobulin; **R-** = recipient negative.

- Aciclovir 500 mg/m² 3 times daily from 5 days before to 30 days after allogenic SCT followed by oral aciclovir 800mg 4 times daily for 6 months.
- Aciclovir 500 mg/m² 3 times daily from 5 days before to 30 days after allogenic SCT followed by placebo.
- Aciclovir 200 to 400mg 4 times daily for 1 month followed by placebo.

The study showed that CMV viraemia was delayed and survival improved in the arm receiving intravenous followed by oral aciclovir while the risk for CMV disease was the same compared with the low dose aciclovir/placebo arm. Thus, these 2 studies clearly showed that high dose aciclovir has some effectiveness as prevention of CMV infection and has an effect on survival in allogenic SCT recipients.

1.3.1 Solid Organ Transplant

Aciclovir as prophylaxis against CMV has been tested in several controlled trials in organ trans-

plant patients. The studies comparing aciclovir with ganciclovir are reviewed in section 3.

One problem with most randomised studies comparing aciclovir with either placebo or immunoglobulin is the low number of patients. A summary of the results of these studies is presented in table I and shows an effect of aciclovir in reducing CMV disease in organ transplant recipients.

1.3.2 Valaciclovir as CMV Prophylaxis

Based on the results with aciclovir, valaciclovir has been studied as CMV prophylaxis both in solid organ and allogenic SCT recipients. Lowance et al.[13] compared valaciclovir 2000mg 4 times daily with placebo in a randomised controlled trial in renal transplant patients. 616 patients were included in the study approximately two-thirds R+ and onethird D+/R. Similarly to previously published results with aciclovir, valaciclovir reduced the risk for CMV disease in high risk D+/R patients (3 vs 45% at 90 days after transplantation). The risk was also lower in R+ patients (0 vs 6%). The most interesting finding, however, was that the risk for acute rejection was significantly reduced (26 vs 52%) in the D+/R group supporting previous findings that CMV has a role in the pathogenesis of acute rejection.

Recently, a randomised, controlled study has been performed comparing intravenous aciclovir followed by valaciclovir with intravenous aciclovir followed by oral aciclovir. The study has only been reported in abstract form, but the results show an additional reduction of CMV infection and viraemia, reduction of the need for pre-emptive therapy, but no difference in survival in patients treated with valaciclovir compared with aciclovir. [29] The results of these studies imply that aciclovir can be safely used as an anti-CMV agent but that aciclovir prophylaxis must be combined with a strategy of pre-emptive therapy based on antigenaemia or polymerase chain reaction (PCR) [see section 3.1]. [30]

1.4 Epstein-Barr

EBV is important as the cause of lymphoproliferative disease (PTLD) in SCT and organ transplant patients. Aciclovir has some efficacy against EBV *in vitro* and in patients with infectious mononucleosis. [31-33] No controlled study has been performed with the aim to prevent EBV PTLD. However, a few uncontrolled studies have suggested some effect with high dose aciclovir with or without a combination with pre-emptively given ganciclovir for the reduction of risk for EBV PTLD. [34-36]

2. Penciclovir and Famciclovir

Penciclovir is a nucleoside analogue that is effective against HSV and VZV. It is not absorbed and can therefore only be given intravenously. Famciclovir is a prodrug of penciclovir and can be given orally. Considering the results in immune competent individuals, it is likely that penciclovir and famciclovir would also be effective against HSV and VZV in transplant patients. However, no study with penciclovir or famciclovir as prophylaxis against HSV and VZV has been published in this setting.

3. Ganciclovir

Ganciclovir is a nucleoside analogue that *in vitro* is effective against CMV, HSV, VZV, EBV and human herpes virus type 6. However, controlled trials have only been performed with ganciclovir given for prevention of CMV. Ganciclovir can be given both intravenously and orally. In transplant patients, 2 different strategies for CMV prevention can be used either prevention of infection (prophy-

laxis) or prevention of disease after CMV infection has been detected (pre-emptive therapy).

3.1 Stem Cell Transplant Recipients

Ganciclovir's main adverse effect is bone marrow suppression. Therefore, ganciclovir cannot be given to SCT patients during the immediate posttransplant phase when the patients are aplastic because of the preparatory regimen, but must be started after marrow engraftment has occurred. Two randomised, placebo-controlled trials have been performed in SCT patients.^[37,38] The designs of the studies were slightly different but the results of the 2 studies were similar with ganciclovir reducing CMV infection in both. In the study by Goodrich et al.,[37] ganciclovir reduced the risk for CMV disease, while in the study by Winston et al.[38] there was a trend in favour of ganciclovir. Neither study showed any difference in mortality, and in both studies, ganciclovir induced neutropenia. Thus, ganciclovir given at engraftment is an effective strategy for the prevention of CMV infection during the time the prophylaxis is given.

When ganciclovir is given at engraftment and continued for several weeks, a particular problem in SCT patients is the increased risk for CMV disease because of poor CMV-specific immune reconstitution.[39] An alternative strategy is therefore not to give ganciclovir until a CMV infection is detected, i.e. pre-emptive therapy. This strategy has been tested in randomised controlled trials. Goodrich et al.[40] studied the effect of ganciclovir given after detection of CMV by rapid virus isolation from any site and showed that ganciclovir reduced the risk for CMV disease both during ganciclovir therapy and after discontinuation of the drug. Schmidt et al.[41] compared ganciclovir with no therapy when CMV was detected from bronchoalveolar lavage and showed a reduction in the rate of CMV pneumonia. During the last decade, new more rapid diagnostic tests for CMV such as antigenaemia and PCR have been introduced. Einsele et al.[42] showed in a randomised study that preemptive therapy based on CMV diagnosed by PCR

was more effective than when based on rapid isolation.

Today both strategies are widely used in SCT patients. Boeckh et al.[43] compared pre-emptive therapy with ganciclovir prophylaxis started at engraftment. This study showed that the risk for CMV disease at 100 days was significantly lower in the ganciclovir at engraftment group, whereas there was no difference at 180 days because of an increased risk for late CMV disease in the group treated at engraftment. An advantage with preemptive therapy is that fewer patients are exposed to the toxic adverse effects of ganciclovir, in particular, the bone marrow suppression. Salzberger et al. [44] showed that neutropenia ($<1.0 \times 10^9/L$) developed in 41% of patients receiving ganciclovir at engraftment and that ganciclovir-induced neutropenia was an independent risk factor for mortality.

Oral ganciclovir has only been studied in SCT patients in a small phase I/II trial.^[45] Gastrointestinal adverse effects requiring drug discontinuation were common. However, the antiviral efficacy must be assessed in a randomised controlled trial.

3.2 Solid Organ Transplant Recipients

Several studies have been performed with ganciclovir in solid organ transplant patients. Table II shows a summary of studies in which ganciclovir has been given as prophylaxis against CMV infection.

The studies have different designs comparing ganciclovir with either placebo or high dose aciclovir. Most placebo-controlled studies showed that ganciclovir reduced the risk for both CMV infection and disease. Ganciclovir also reduced the risk for CMV infection and disease compared with aciclovir in most studies. This was also the case in a study of oral ganciclovir.^[47]

In a randomised trial, Hertz et al.^[54] compared daily versus prophylactic ganciclovir given 3 days per week in heart and heart-lung transplant recipients. This study showed a slight survival difference in the daily ganciclovir arm. However, there was no difference in the risks for CMV infection or disease between the 2 study arms.

Singh et al.^[55] compared high dose aciclovir with pre-emptive ganciclovir therapy based on surveillance cultures in liver transplant patients. Pre-emptive ganciclovir reduced the risk for CMV disease to 4% compared with 29% in the aciclovir group (p < 0.05).

4. Foscarnet

Foscarnet is a pyrophosphate analogue that has been available for more than 15 years. Although it has a broad antiviral activity against most herpesviruses, it has been used as a prophylactic agent only against CMV in SCT recipients.

4.1 Prevention of Infection

Only 1 very small randomised, controlled study has been performed with foscarnet in SCT patients. [56] This study was interrupted prematurely because of CMV disease in the foscarnet arm. There have also been 2 uncontrolled dose-finding studies performed. [57,58] Although both studies showed a low risk for CMV reactivation, no conclusions regarding efficacy can be drawn because of the uncontrolled nature of these studies.

4.2 Prevention of Disease

In a small randomised study (39 patients), Moretti et al.[59] compared ganciclovir and foscarnet as preemptive therapy in SCT patients. There was no difference in the risk for CMV disease, although there was a tendency for foscarnet to be more effective in clearing the CMV antigenaemia (p = 0.06). Recently, a larger randomised study that included 213 patients was performed by the Infectious Diseases Working Party of the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT). This study was presented only in abstract form at the 39th Interscience Conference on Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy (ICAAC) in 1999. There was no difference in the risk for CMV disease and the drugs were equally effective in controlling CMV infection.

No study with foscarnet has been performed in solid organ transplant recipients.

Table II. Randomised trials of ganciclovir (GCV) prophylaxis in solid organ transplant patients

Reference	Design	Dosage	Patient population	No. of patients	Results
Flechner et al. ^[46]	Randomised, ACV vs oral GCV	ACV 3200 mg/day GCV 3000 mg/day	High risk renal transplant patients	101	GCV reduced both CMV infection and disease compared with ACV in D+/R- and D+/R+ No difference in D-/R+
Green et al. ^[36]	Randomised study comparing IV GCV for 14 days followed by ACV for 50 weeks vs IV GCV for 14 days	GCV 10 mg/kg/day ACV 3200 mg/day	Liver transplanted children	48	No added effect of ACV to GCV
Gane et al. ^[47]	Randomised, placebo-controlled study of oral GCV	GCV 3000 mg/day	Liver transplant patients	304	Oral GCV reduced CMV infection and disease
Winston et al. ^[48]	Randomised, ACV vs IV GCV	ACV 30 mg/kg/day IV followed by 3200 mg/day orally. GCV 6 mg/kg IV 5 days/week	Liver transplant patients	250	GCV reduced CMV infection and disease compared with ACV
Macdonald et al. ^[49]	Randomised, placebo-controlled study	GCV 5 mg/kg IV \times 3 weekly	Heart transplant patients	56	GCV reduced CMV disease in D+/R- patients. No effect in D?/R+ patients
Martin et al. ^[50]	Randomised study comparing oral ACV vs IV GCV followed by oral ACV	ACV 3200 mg/day GCV 10 mg/day	Liver transplant patients	143	GCV followed by ACV reduced the risk for CMV infection and CMV disease compared with ACV
Duncan et al. ^[51]	Randomised study comparing IV GCV vs oral ACV followed induction with IV GCV	GCV 5 mg/kg/day 5 days/week ACV 3200 mg/day	Lung transplant patients	25	Early reduction of CMV disease and obliterative bronchiolitis in the GCV group; no difference after 24 months
Dunn et al. ^[52]	Randomised study comparing ACV given for 12 weeks vs GCV for 7 days together with immune globulin	GCV 10 mg/kg/day ACV 3200 mg/day orally or 1600 mg/day IV	Liver or renal transplant patients	311	ACV reduced CMV disease compared with GCV
Merigan et al.[53]	Randomised, placebo-controlled study of IV GCV	GCV 10 mg/kg IV for 14 days followed by 6 mg/kg 5 days/week for 14 days	Heart transplant patients	112	GCV reduced CMV disease in R+ patients. No effect in R- patients

5. Cidofovir

Cidofovir is a nucleotide analogue with a broad antiviral spectrum including most herpesviruses and adenovirus. Although its pharmacokinetic profile that allows once weekly administration is attractive, no study of cidofovir as a prophylactic agent has been performed in transplant patients. The main reason for the lack of studies is the toxicity profile with a reported 25% risk for nephrotoxicity in patients with HIV infection treated for CMV retinitis. [60-62]

Recently, the Infectious Diseases Working Party of the EBMT presented data regarding the preemptive use of cidofovir against CMV. The results showed a 66% success rate when cidofovir was given as a second-line pre-emptive therapy after failure of either ganciclovir or foscarnet. [63] Approximately 20% of the patients developed some signs of renal toxicity indicating that this drug should be used with caution in allogenic SCT patients, in particular patients receiving therapy with other nephrotoxic agents.

6. Conclusions

Several antiviral drugs are available today for the prevention of herpesvirus infections and disease in transplant patients. Aciclovir and valaciclovir are indicated for the prevention of HSV and VZV infections. These drugs can also be considered for the prevention of CMV infection and disease in transplant patients. However, in patients at high risk for CMV disease such as allogenic SCT patients, the prophylactic use of aciclovir and valaciclovir should be combined with the strategy of pre-emptive therapy with either ganciclovir or foscarnet. Ganciclovir can be used either for the prevention of CMV infection (prophylaxis) or for the prevention of CMV disease (pre-emptive therapy). Foscarnet can be used as pre-emptive therapy for CMV in particular in allogenic SCT patients. Despite these advances achieved with the introduction of antiviral agents against herpesviruses during the last decades, there is a need for additional antiviral agents that can be given orally with a low risk for toxicity.

References

- Hann IM, Prentice HG, Blacklock HA, et al. Acyclovir prophylaxis against herpes virus infections in severely immunocompromised patients: randomised double blind trial. Br Med J Clin Res Ed 1983; 287: 384-8
- Saral R, Burns WH, Laskin OL, et al. Acyclovir prophylaxis of herpes-simplex-virus infections. N Engl J Med 1981; 305: 63-7
- Ljungman P, Wilczek H, Gahrton G, et al. Long-term acyclovir prophylaxis in bone marrow transplant recipients and lymphocyte proliferation responses to herpes virus antigens in vitro. Bone Marrow Transplant 1986; 1: 185-92
- Engelhard D, Morag A, Or R, et al. Prevention of herpes simplex virus (HSV) infection in recipients of HLA- matched Tlymphocyte-depleted bone marrow allografts. Isr J Med Sci 1988; 24: 145-50
- Gluckman E, Lotsberg J, Devergie A, et al. Prophylaxis of herpes infections after bone-marrow transplantation by oral acyclovir. Lancet 1983; II: 706-8
- Wade JC, Newton B, Flournoy N, et al. Oral acyclovir for prevention of herpes simplex virus reactivation after marrow transplantation. Ann Intern Med 1984; 100: 823-8
- Wade JC, Day LM, Crowley JJ, et al. Recurrent infection with herpes simplex virus after marrow transplantation: role of the specific immune response and acyclovir treatment. J Infect Dis 1984; 149: 750-6
- Shepp DH, Dandliker PS, Flournoy N, et al. Sequential intravenous and twice-daily oral acyclovir for extended prophylaxis of herpes simplex virus infection in marrow transplant patients. Transplantation 1987; 43: 654-8

- Pettersson E, Hovi T, Ahonen J, et al. Prophylactic oral acyclovir after renal transplantation. Transplantation 1985; 39: 279-81
- Seale L, Jones CJ, Kathpalia S, et al. Prevention of herpesvirus infections in renal allograft recipients by low-dose oral acyclovir. JAMA 1985; 254: 3435-8
- Carrier M, Pelletier GB, Cartier R, et al. Prevention of herpes simplex virus infection by oral acyclovir after cardiac transplantation. Can J Surg 1992; 35: 513-6
- Paya CV, Hermans PE, Washington JA, et al. Incidence, distribution, and outcome of episodes of infection in 100 orthotopic liver transplantations. Mayo Clin Proc 1989; 64: 555-64
- Lowance D, Neumayer HH, Legendre CM, et al. Valacyclovir for the prevention of cytomegalovirus disease after renal transplantation. International Valacyclovir Cytomegalovirus Prophylaxis Transplantation Study Group. N Engl J Med 1999; 340: 1462-70
- Wade JC, McLaren C, Meyers JD. Frequency and significance of acyclovir-resistant herpes simplex virus isolated from marrow transplant patients receiving multiple courses of treatment with acyclovir. J Infect Dis 1983; 148: 1077-82
- Englund JA, Zimmerman ME, Swierkosz EM, et al. Herpes simplex virus resistant to acyclovir: a study in a tertiary care center. Ann Intern Med 1990; 112: 416-22
- Reusser P, Cordonnier C, Einsele H, et al. European survey of herpesvirus resistance to antiviral drugs in bone marrow transplant recipients. Infectious Diseases Working Party of the European Group for Blood and Marrow Transplantation (EBMT). Bone Marrow Transplant 1996; 17: 813-7
- Ambinder RF, Burns WH, Lietman PS, et al. Prophylaxis: a strategy to minimise antiviral resistance. Lancet 1984; I: 1154-5
- Safrin S, Assaykeen T, Follansbee S, et al. Foscarnet therapy for acyclovir-resistant mucocutaneous herpes simplex virus infection in 26 AIDS patients: preliminary data. J Infect Dis 1990; 161: 1078-84
- Selby PJ, Powles RL, Easton D, et al. The prophylactic role of intravenous and long-term oral acyclovir after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Br J Cancer 1989; 59: 434-8
- Erice A, Gil-Roda C, Perez JL, et al. Antiviral susceptibilities and analysis of UL97 and DNA polymerase sequences of clinical cytomegalovirus isolates from immunocompromised patients. J Infect Dis 1997; 175: 1087-92
- Zimmermann A, Michel D, Pavic I, et al. Phosphorylation of aciclovir, ganciclovir, penciclovir and S2242 by the cytomegalovirus UL97 protein: a quantitative analysis using recombinant vaccinia viruses. Antiviral Res 1997; 36: 35-42
- Meyers JD, Reed EC, Shepp DH, et al. Acyclovir for prevention of cytomegalovirus infection and disease after allogeneic marrow transplantation. N Engl J Med 1988; 318: 70-5
- Prentice HG, Gluckman E, Powles RL, et al. Impact of longterm acyclovir on cytomegalovirus infection and survival after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. European Acyclovir for CMV Prophylaxis Study Group. Lancet 1994; 343: 749-53
- Prentice HG, Gluckman E, Powles RL, et al. Long-term survival in allogeneic bone marrow transplant recipients following acyclovir prophylaxis for CMV infection. European Acyclovir for CMV Prophylaxis Study Group. Bone Marrow Transplant 1997; 19: 129-33
- Balfour HJ, Chace B, Stapleton J, et al. A randomized, placebocontrolled trial of oral acyclovir for the prevention of cytomegalovirus disease in recipients of renal allografts. N Engl J Med 1989; 320: 1381
- 26. Rostaing L, Martinet O, Cisterne JM, et al. CMV prophylaxis in high-risk renal transplant patients (D+/R) by acyclovir with

- or without hyperimmune (CMV) immunoglobulins: a prospective study. Am J Nephrol 1997; 17: 489-94
- Kletzmayr J, Kotzmann H, Popow-Kraupp T, et al. Impact of high-dose oral acyclovir prophylaxis on cytomegalovirus (CMV) disease in CMV high-risk renal transplant recipients. J Am Soc Nephrol 1996; 7: 325-30
- Gavalda J, de Otero J, Murio E, et al. Two grams daily of oral acyclovir reduces the incidence of cytomegalovirus disease in CMV-seropositive liver transplant recipients. Transpl Int 1997: 10: 462-5
- Ljungman P, De la Camara R, Milpied N, et al. A randomized study of valaciclovir as prophylaxis against CMV infection and disease in BMT recipients. Bone Marrow Transplant 1998; 23 Suppl. 1: 80
- Prentice H, Kho P. Clinical strategies for the management of cytomegalovirus infection and disease in allogeneic bone marrow transplant. Bone Marrow Transplant 1997; 19: 135-42
- Andersson J, Sköldenberg B, Henle W, et al. Acyclovir treatment in infectious mononucleosis: a clinical and virological study. Infection 1987; 15 Suppl. 1: S14-20
- Andersson J, Sköldenberg B, Ernberg I, et al. Acyclovir treatment in primary Epstein-Barr virus infection: a double-blind placebo-controlled study. Scand J Infect Dis 1985; Suppl. 47: 107-15
- Andersson J, Britton S, Ernberg I, et al. Effect of acyclovir on infectious mononucleosis: a double-blind, placebo-controlled study. J Infect Dis 1986; 153: 283-90
- 34. Birkeland SA, Andersen HK, Hamilton-Dutoit SJ. Preventing acute rejection, Epstein-Barr virus infection, and post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders after kidney transplantation: use of aciclovir and mycophenolate mofetil in a steroid-free immunosuppressive protocol. Transplantation 1999; 67: 1209-14
- Darenkov IA, Marcarelli MA, Basadonna GP, et al. Reduced incidence of Epstein-Barr virus-associated posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder using preemptive antiviral therapy. Transplantation 1997; 64: 848-52
- 36. Green M, Kaufmann M, Wilson J, et al. Comparison of intravenous ganciclovir followed by oral acyclovir with intravenous ganciclovir alone for prevention of cytomegalovirus and Epstein-Barr virus disease after liver transplantation in children. Clin Infect Dis 1997; 25: 1344-9
- Goodrich JM, Bowden RA, Fisher L, et al. Ganciclovir prophylaxis to prevent cytomegalovirus disease after allogeneic marrow transplant. Ann Intern Med 1993; 118: 173-8
- Winston DJ, Ho WG, Bartoni K, et al. Ganciclovir prophylaxis
 of cytomegalovirus infection and disease in allogeneic bone
 marrow transplant recipients: results of a placebo-controlled,
 double-blind trial. Ann Intern Med 1993; 118: 179-84
- Li CR, Greenberg PD, Gilbert MJ, et al. Recovery of HLArestricted cytomegalovirus (CMV)-specific T-cell responses after allogeneic bone marrow transplant: correlation with CMV disease and effect of ganciclovir prophylaxis. Blood 1994; 83: 1971-9
- Goodrich JM, Mori M, Gleaves CA, et al. Early treatment with ganciclovir to prevent cytomegalovirus disease after allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. N Engl J Med 1991; 335: 1601.7
- Schmidt GM, Horak DA, Niland JC, et al. A randomized, controlled trial of prophylactic ganciclovir for cytomegalovirus pulmonary infection in recipients of allogeneic bone marrow transplants; City of Hope-Stanford-Syntex CMV Study Group. N Engl J Med 1991; 324: 1005-11

- Einsele H, Ehninger G, Hebart H, et al. Polymerase chain reaction monitoring reduces the incidence of cytomegalovirus disease and the duration and side effects of antiviral therapy after bone marrow transplantation. Blood 1995; 86: 2815-20
- Boeckh M, Gooley TA, Myerson D, et al. Cytomegalovirus pp65 antigenemia-guided early treatment with ganciclovir versus ganciclovir at engraftment after allogeneic marrow transplantation: a randomized double-blind study. Blood 1996; 88: 4063-71
- Salzberger B, Bowden RA, Hackman RC, et al. Neutropenia in allogeneic marrow transplant recipients receiving ganciclovir for prevention of cytomegalovirus disease: risk factors and outcome. Blood 1997; 90: 2502-8
- Boeckh M, Zaia JA, Jung D, et al. A study of the pharmacokinetics, antiviral activity, and tolerability of oral ganciclovir for CMV prophylaxis in marrow transplantation. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant 1998; 4: 13-9
- Flechner SM, Avery RK, Fisher R, et al. A randomized prospective controlled trial of oral acyclovir versus oral ganciclovir for cytomegalovirus prophylaxis in high-risk kidney transplant recipients. Transplantation 1998; 66: 1682-8
- Gane E, Saliba F, Valdecasas GJ, et al. Randomised trial of efficacy and safety of oral ganciclovir in the prevention of cytomegalovirus disease in liver-transplant recipients. Oral Ganciclovir International Transplantation Study Group Lancet 1997; 350: 1729-33
- Winston DJ, Wirin D, Shaked A, et al. Randomised comparison of ganciclovir and high-dose acyclovir for long- term cytomegalovirus prophylaxis in liver-transplant recipients. Lancet 1995; 346: 69-74
- Macdonald PS, Keogh AM, Marshman D, et al. A double-blind placebo-controlled trial of low-dose ganciclovir to prevent cytomegalovirus disease after heart transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 1995; 14: 32-8
- Martin M, Manez R, Linden P, et al. A prospective randomized trial comparing sequential ganciclovir-high dose acyclovir to high dose acyclovir for prevention of cytomegalovirus disease in adult liver transplant recipients. Transplantation 1994; 58: 779-85
- Duncan SR, Grgurich WF, Iacono AT, et al. A comparison of ganciclovir and aciclovir to prevent cytomegalovirus after lung transplantation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1994; 150: 146-52
- Dunn DL, Gillingham KJ, Kramer MA, et al. A prospective randomized study of aciclovir versus ganciclovir plus human immune globulin prophylaxis of cytomegalovirus infection after solid organ transplantation. Transplantation 1994; 57: 876-84
- Merigan TC, Renlund DG, Keay S, et al. A controlled trial of ganciclovir to prevent cytomegalovirus disease after heart transplantation. N Engl J Med 1992; 326: 1182-6
- Hertz MI, Jordan C, Savik SK, et al. Randomized trial of daily versus three-times-weekly prophylactic ganciclovir after lung and heart-lung transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant 1998; 17: 913-20
- Singh N, Yu VL, Mieles L, et al. High-dose aciclovir compared with short-course preemptive ganciclovir therapy to prevent cytomegalovirus disease in liver transplant recipients: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 1994; 120: 375-81
- Ringdén O, Lönnqvist B, Aschan J, et al. Foscarnet prophylaxis in marrow transplant recipients [letter]. Bone Marrow Transplant Nov 1989; 4 (6): 713
- Reusser P, Gambertoglio JG, Lilleby K, et al. Phase I-II trial of foscarnet for prevention of cytomegalovirus infection in au-

- tologous and allogeneic marrow transplant recipients. J Infect Dis 1992; 166: 473-9
- Bacigalupo A, Tedone E, Van Lint MT, et al. CMV prophylaxis with foscarnet in allogeneic bone marrow transplant recipients at high risk of developing CMV infections. Bone Marrow Transplant 1994; 13: 783-8
- Moretti S, Zikos P, Van Lint MT, et al. Foscarnet vs ganciclovir for cytomegalovirus (CMV) antigenemia after allogeneic hemopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT): a randomized study. Bone Marrow Transplant 1998; 22: 175-80
- Lalezari JP, Drew WL, Glutzer E, et al. (S)-1-[3-hydroxy-2-(phosphonylmethoxy)propyl]cytosine (cidofovir): results of a phase I/II study of a novel antiviral nucleotide analogue. J Infect Dis 1995; 171: 788-96
- 61. Lalezari JP, Holland GN, Kramer F, et al. Randomized, controlled study of the safety and efficacy of intravenous cidofovir for the treatment of relapsing cytomegalovirus retinitis in patients with AIDS. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 1998; 17: 339-44
- 62. AIDS Research Group in Collaboration with the AIDS Clinical Trials Group. Studies of ocular complications of AIDS Research Group in Collaboration with the AIDS Clinical Trials Group. Parenteral cidofovir for cytomegalovirus retinitis in patients with AIDS: the HPMPC peripheral cytomegalovirus retinitis trial: a randomized, controlled trial. Ann Intern Med 1997; 126: 264-74
- Ljungman P, Lambertenghi Deliliers G, Platzbecker U, et al. Cidofovir for treatment of CMV infection and disease in allogeneic stem cell transplant patients. Blood 2000; 97: 388-92

Correspondence and offprints: Dr *Per Ljungman*, Department of Haematology, Huddinge University Hospital, Karolinska Institutet, SE-14186 Huddinge, Sweden. E-mail: Per.Ljungman@medhs.ki.se